THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT COUNTY

H. W. Funderburk, Jr., Administrative Law Judge

Case No. 13-ALJ-17-0601-CC

Appellate Case No. 2016-001210

Rent-A-Center East, Inc. and Rent Way, Inc.,

Appellants,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

RECEIVED

FEB 14 2017

SC Court of Appeals

John C. von Lehe, Jr.
Bryson M. Geer
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
151 Meeting Street / Sixth Floor
Post Office Box 1806 (29402-1806)
Charleston, SC 29401-2239
(843) 853-5200

Attorneys for Appellants

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. DID THE ALC ERR IN FAILING TO APPLY THE APPROPRIATE RULES OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION TO THE TAX STATUTES AT ISSUE?
- II. DID THE ALC ERR IN FINDING THAT THE WAIVERS WERE TAXABLE WHEN NO IMPOSITION STATUTE IMPOSES A TAX ON WAIVERS?
- III. DID THE ALC ERR IN RELYING ON THE MEASURE OF TAX STATUTE WHEN NO IMPOSITION STATUTE WAS INVOKED?
- IV. EVEN IF THE ALC PROPERLY REACHED THE MEASURE OF TAX STATUTE, DID IT ERR IN FINDING THE WAIVER PROCEEDS PART OF APPELLANTS' "GROSS PROCEEDS OF SALE"?
- V. EVEN IF THE WAIVER AND RENTAL AGREEMENT CONSTITUTE A SINGLE AGREEMENT OR TRANSACTION, DID THE ALC ERR IN FAILING TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE INTANGIBLE WAIVER IS SUBJECT TO SALES TAX?
- VI. DID THE ALC ERR IN FINDING AS A FACT THAT THE RENTAL AGREEMENT AND THE WAIVER CONSTITUTE A SINGLE AGREEMENT OR TRANSACTION?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a protest by Rent-A-Center East, Inc. ("RAC East") and Rent Way, Inc. ("Rent Way") (collectively "Rent-A-Center" or "Appellants") of an assessment of sales tax by the South Carolina Department of Revenue ("SCDOR" or "Respondent") for the income tax years of April 1, 2007- October 31, 2010 for RAC East and April 1, 2007- December 31, 2009 for Rent Way. SCDOR issued audit reports to Rent-A-Center on or about April 30, 2012. See Audit Report for RAC East, R. pp. 349-374; Audit Report for Rent Way, R. pp. 375-397. SCDOR claimed that Rent-A-Center owed the following in sales tax and interest as of 5/30/12:¹

¹ The audit reports also assessed penalties. However, SCDOR later dropped the penalties so they are not at issue, and the total assessments have been revised to so reflect.

RENT-A-CENTER EAST

<u>Audit Period</u>	<u>Tax</u>	<u>Interest</u>	<u>Total</u>
4/1/07-10/31/10	\$767,004.50	\$106,154.80	\$873,159.30

RENT WAY

<u>Audit Period</u>	<u>Tax</u>	<u>Interest</u>	<u>Total</u>
4/1/07-12/31/09	\$309,654.51	\$52,458.18	\$362,112.69

Appellants timely protested this assessment. See RAC East Notice of Protest, R. pp. 16-20; Rent Way Notice of Protest, R. pp. 21-24. Following a conference, SCDOR issued Department Determinations on November 18, 2013 upholding the portion of the assessments related to the sale of Optional Liability Waiver Provisions.² See SCDOR Department Determination for RAC East, R. pp. 398-407; SCDOR Department Determination for Rent Way, R. pp. 408-417. SCDOR assessed tax and interest totaling \$618,347.44 as to RAC East and \$233,274.87 as to Rent Way. Department Determinations, R. pp. 399 and 409. Appellants then timely requested a contested case hearing before the Administrative Law Court (the “ALC”) pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 12-60-460 (2014).

The ALC held a hearing on September 24 and 25, 2015, and issued a Final Order (the “Order”) finding for SCDOR on all issues on March 30, 2016. See Order, R. pp. 1-11. Appellants received written notice of the Order that same day and subsequently filed a Motion for Reconsideration on April 12, 2016. See Rent-A-Center East and Rent Way’s Motion for Reconsideration, R. pp. 25-53. The ALC denied this motion on May 5, 2016, and Appellants received that order that same day. On or about May 31, 2016, Appellants submitted payment

² The figures in the Determinations differ from those in the audit reports because the audit reports included several additional findings and assessed taxes, interest and penalties associated with those findings. However, the parties resolved all issues except for the issue of whether the Optional Liability Waiver Provisions were subject to sales tax prior to the issuance of the Determinations. See Department Determinations, R. pp. 400 at n. 2 and 410 at n. 2.

to SCDOR for all taxes and interest owed in the total amount of \$919,585.55. See Letter from Appellants' Counsel to SCDOR dated May 31, 2016 with enclosed check, R. p. 849.³ Appellants then timely filed a Notice of Appeal on June 6, 2016 such that the Initial Brief and Designation of Matter to be Included on Appeal were due on or before July 6, 2016. Thereafter, Appellants obtained a thirty day extension such that these items were due on or before August 5, 2016 and then requested a second thirty day extension such that they would be due on or before September 6, 2015.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Rental Agreement

Rent-A-Center operates retail stores in South Carolina (as well as other states) from which customers can “rent to own” certain household items such as electronics, appliances, furniture, and computers. Trial Transcript (“Tr.”), R. p. 154:1-7. A customer who chooses to rent an item enters into an agreement with Rent-A-Center entitled a “Consumer Rental-Purchase Agreement” (the “Rental Agreement”) under which he makes payments over a stated period of time, and, if all payments are made, he will eventually own the item rented. Tr., R. pp. 155:12-156:25; see also Rental Agreement, R. p. 342.⁴ The customer can choose a weekly, semi-monthly or monthly renewal term. Rental Agreement, R. p. 342. The customer automatically renews the Rental Agreement by making an advance payment prior to the expiration of the term chosen. Id. Rent-A-Center cannot unilaterally terminate the Rental

³ Appellants are thus in compliance with S.C. Code Ann. § 12-60-3370 (2014), which requires payment of contested amounts prior to filing a notice of appeal.

⁴ RAC East and Rent Way submitted trial exhibits that were virtually identical, so unless otherwise indicated, references herein will be to those of RAC East, and the Court may assume the Rent Way version does not differ in any substantive way.

Agreement; only the customer can do so by violating its terms or returning the item. Id. If renewed by the customer, the Rental Agreement does not terminate until the customer takes title to the item or if the item is destroyed or stolen. Id. Rent-A-Center provides certain services in connection with the rental of merchandise, including warranty and maintenance services. Tr., R. pp. 159:16- 160:11; Rental Agreement, R. p. 342 (stating that Rent-A-Center is “responsible for maintaining or servicing the goods while they are being rented.”).

B. The Waiver

If a rented item is “lost, stolen, damaged or destroyed” while the customer is renting it, then the Rental Agreement provides that the customer is “responsible for the fair market value of the property. . . .” Tr., R. p. 157:1-11; Rental Agreement, R. p. 342. However, Rent-A-Center offers its customers the opportunity to avoid some of this risk by entering an additional and separate, optional agreement entitled an “Optional Liability Waiver Provision” (the “Waiver”), which negates that risk as to certain covered events, including lightening, fire, smoke, windstorm, theft and flood. Tr., R. pp. 157:12- 159:11 and 163:6-10; Waiver, R. pp. 344-345. The Waiver does not provide for repairs or replacement of the items, (Waiver, R. p. 344-345 and Tr., R.p. 159:12-15), and no warranty, maintenance or other services are provided under the Waiver.⁵ Waiver, R. pp. 344-345; Tr., R. pp. 160:12-15 and 161:14-162:9 . Rent-A-Center does not insure the rental merchandise, and there is no other cost or cost of service associated with the Waiver that is passed on to the customer. Tr., R. p. 162:10-16. The Waiver simply secures Rent-A-Center’s promise to waive any claim it would

⁵ As previously stated, warranty and maintenance services are provided under the Rental Agreement, and the fee for those services is included in the taxable Rental Agreement fee.

otherwise have against the customer in the future if damage to or loss of the rented item due to the covered events occurs. Waiver, R. pp. 344-345.

If a customer purchases an optional Waiver, the fee is separate and distinct from the charge for the rental of the property. The Waiver fee is recorded separately in Rent-A-Center's books and records used for financial accounting purposes. Tr., R. p. 171:21-25. The Waiver fee is also noted separately on the customer's receipt. Tr., R. pp. 168:17- 169:8; Waiver, R. pp. 344-345; Sample Receipt, R. pp. 346-347. The payment due under the Rental Agreement remains the same whether or not a customer purchases an optional Waiver, and payment of the Waiver fee does not count towards the rental charge or eventual purchase of the property. Tr., R. pp. 163:11- 164:12; Rental Agreement, R. p. 342; Waiver, R. pp. 344-345.

Customers can purchase a Waiver when they enter into a Rental Agreement, or they can choose to do so later. Tr., R. p. 164:13-17; Waiver Policy Statement, R. p. 348. The customer can cancel the Waiver at any time, and, if canceled, the Rental Agreement is not impacted in any way and remains in effect. Tr., R. pp. 166:14- 167:3; Waiver, R. pp. 344-345. Unlike the Rental Agreement, Rent-A-Center can also cancel the Waiver at any time.

In sum, the Rental Agreement and the Waiver are separate, distinct and singular transactions, which for separate charges and separate terms provide two different benefits to the customer: the Rental Agreement provides the benefit of renting to own an item, while the Waiver provides the benefit of avoiding the risk of loss (*i.e.* avoiding responsibility for paying the fair value of the property) in case of certain enumerated damages to or theft of the property. Tr., R. pp. 169:12- 170:3 and 170:20- 171:10; see also Rental Agreement, R. p. 342; Waiver, R. pp. 344-345. The Waiver does not increase the value of the rented property. Id. In other words, if a customer rents a television that is valued at \$500 and then purchases a

Waiver, the television's value remains \$500. Tr., R. pp. 232:11- 234:20. Likewise, the Waiver does not alter, enhance or improve the rented property in any way. Id. at 169:9-14. The Waiver can be contrasted with the example of an engraved and assembled trophy discussed at several points during the trial. See e.g. Tr., R. pp. 255:23- 256:25. Unlike the intangible Waiver, the services of assembly and engraving alter, enhance, improve and are embodied in the trophy, and its value is thereby increased.

C. Treatment of the Proceeds from the Rental Agreements and the Waivers

The proceeds from the Rental Agreements for the rental of tangible personal property are subject to sales tax in South Carolina, and Rent-A-Center paid all taxes on the rental proceeds. Tr., R. pp. 177:17- 178:1. However, during the audit periods at issue, Rent-A-Center did not pay sales tax on the separately itemized sales of optional Waivers because it believed that those proceeds were not taxable as they were not attributable to the rental of tangible personal property nor were they a service cost associated with the rental of tangible personal property.

D. Expert Testimony regarding Tax Policy Matters

Professor Richard D. Pomp⁶ testified at the hearing regarding certain tax policy matters, including, but not limited to: (1) why questions of imposition of tax statutes (or coverage questions) are construed against the State while exemption statutes are construed against the taxpayer (Tr., R. pp. 218:11- 219:19); (2) that an item must be subject to tax under an imposition statute in order to be taxable and that a court should not reach a "measure of tax".

⁶ Professor Pomp was qualified as an expert in tax policy. Tr., R. p. 204:8-15. He is the Alva P. Loiselle Professor of Law at the University of Connecticut School of Law and is an adjunct professor at the NYU School of Law, and has taught tax law, with an emphasis or specialty in state and local tax law, for approximately 40 years. Id. at 204:22- 205:25. See also CV of Richard D. Pomp, R. pp. 780-794.

statute unless an imposition statute is first triggered (Id. at 223:3- 224:7 and 229:4- 231:15); (3) that the tax policy rationale behind the sales tax not allowing a deduction for costs is to avoid bifurcation of receipts, and by avoiding this bifurcation, prevent taxpayers from trying to carve out service costs that are embedded in the sale of an item that is subject to sales tax (Id. at 225:7- 229:3); and (4) that SCDOR’s “but for” argument (i.e. “but for” the sale of the rented item, there would be no Waiver) in support of taxing the Waiver proceeds is not sound from a tax policy perspective (Id. at 240:10- 242:1). His testimony will be discussed in more detail below where relevant.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Administrative Procedures Act provides the appropriate standard of review in an appeal related to the decision of an administrative agency. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610 (Supp. 2009); see also The Original Blue Ribbon Taxi Corporation v. SCDMV, 380 S.C. 600, 604, 670 S.E.2d 674, 676 (2008). Under S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B), the Court of Appeals may reverse or modify a decision of the ALC “if the substantive rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the finding, conclusion, or decision is: (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions; . . . (d) affected by other error of law; [or] (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record. . . .” S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610 (Supp. 2009); Brownlee v. South Carolina Dep’t of Health and Environmental Control, 382 S.C. 129, 676 S.E.2d 116 (holding ALJ may be reversed based on error of law or if his findings were not supported by substantial evidence).

ARGUMENT

The primary issue in this appeal is whether the ALC properly interpreted the South Carolina tax statutes at issue to levy a sales tax upon the sales by Rent-A-Center of intangible

Waivers. As will be discussed below, the relevant imposition statute contained in S.C. Code Ann. §12-36-910 imposes sales tax on tangible personal property and certain enumerated services, but there is no imposition statute that imposes a tax on intangibles similar to the Waivers. The clearest proof that the Waivers are not subject to sales tax under the imposition statute is SCDOR's admission that the Waivers are not taxable on their own. Tr., R. pp. 294:19- 295:2. In other words, if a third party, or even an affiliate of Rent-A-Center, sold only Waivers, the Waivers would not be taxable. Id. This is not surprising as it is well known and accepted (and even SCDOR would likely agree), that the sale of services (such as legal, medical, architectural, barber shop and other similar services) as well as intangibles (such as intellectual property) are generally not subject to sales tax in South Carolina. S.C. Code Ann. §12-36-910; see also Boggero v. S.C. Dept. of Rev., 414 S.C. 277, 777 S.E.2d 842 at n. 1 (Ct. App. 2015) (noting that “[g]enerally, the gross proceeds from services are not subject to sales and use tax.”) citing S.C. Code Ann. Regs. § 117-308 (2012).

SCDOR attempts to avoid this result here by focusing on the fact that the Waivers are often sold in conjunction with the rentals of tangible personal property (which is true), and thereby attempts to combine these two revenue streams into a single taxable event. However, the law is clear that unless the service is bundled or inextricably linked to the sale of tangible personal property, then the court must examine each transaction on its own to determine if it is subject to sales tax. Here, the optional Waivers, which for a separate price provide a separate benefit to the customer of protection from liability, are not inseparable from the rentals of appliances and other items, which can be purchased with or without a Waiver. In sum and as will be discussed below, because no statute imposes a tax on the intangible Waivers and because no bundled transaction is at issue, the Waivers are not subject to sales tax.

I. The ALC Erred in Failing to Apply the Appropriate Rules of Statutory Construction to the Tax Statutes at Issue.

The ALC erred in failing to apply the appropriate rules of statutory construction to the tax statutes at issue. More specifically, the Order fails (a) to apply the plain meaning rule to the tax statutes; and (b) to construe these statutes in favor of the taxpayers and against the taxing authority and imposition of the tax. While the ALC cited both of these rules in the Order under the heading “Applicable Tax Provisions” (see Order, R. pp. 4-5), there is no discussion of either rule in the “Analysis” section wherein the ALC analyzes the relevant tax statutes and determines whether they impose a tax on the Waivers. In its subsequent Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration, the ALC states that it “must follow the plain meaning rule” (see Order Denying Pet. Mot. for Reconsideration, R. p. 13) thus implying that it did apply that rule. The ALC also states that the statutes at issue are not ambiguous thus perhaps adopting SCDOR’s argument that the ALC need not construe the tax statutes in favor of the taxpayers because they were not ambiguous. Id.; see also SCDOR’s Resp. to Pet. Mot. for Reconsideration, R. pp. 58-60. However, a review of the decision reveals that neither rule was properly applied, and due to these errors of law and violations of statutory provisions, Appellants’ substantive rights have been prejudiced, and the decision should be reversed. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610 (Supp. 2009).

A. The ALC Erred in Failing to Apply the Plain Meaning Rule.

The ALC erred in failing to apply the plain meaning rule. The sole function of a court in construing statutes is to determine and give effect to the intent of the legislature, and the starting point in doing so should always be the text of the statute itself. Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000). In interpreting the text, the plain meaning rule requires that “words must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resort to subtle or forced

construction to limit or expand that statute's operation," and when the language of the statute is clear, "a court cannot rewrite the statute and inject matters into it which are not in the legislature's language. . . ." State v. Leopard, 349 S.C. 467, 471, 563 S.E.2d 342, 344 (Ct. App. 2002); see also Rosmer v. Pfizer, 263 F.3d 263 (4th Cir. 2001) (holding that when a statute is plain on its face, the court's inquiry is at an end).⁷ See also Alltel v. S.C. Dept. of Rev., 2015 WL 7681302, slip op. at pp. 17-20 (S.C. Admin. Law Ct. Nov. 13, 2015) (applying plain meaning rule to imposition statute to determine whether a taxpayer's proceeds are subject to sales tax) and infra, §II (for additional discussion of Alltel court's application of plain meaning rule applied to imposition statute).

As will be discussed in more detail below, both the Order and the Order Denying Petitioners' Motion for Reconsideration fail to identify an imposition statute that imposes a tax on Waivers and refer instead to the "gross proceeds" or "measure of tax" statute contained in S.C. Code Ann. §12-36-60 as the basis for imposing sales tax on the Waivers. See Order, R. pp. 4-8; Order Denying Mot. for Reconsideration, R. p. 13; see also infra §II (for discussion of ALC's failure to identify an imposition statute) and §III (for discussion of ALC's error in relying on the measure of tax statute in §12-36-60 when no imposition statute was invoked). The ALC's failure to properly apply the plain meaning rule caused it to improperly construe the taxing statutes at issue and to err in finding the Waivers subject to sales tax. Thus, Appellants respectfully request that this Court reverse the ALC's Order.

⁷ See also House Bill 3700, Part IB, Section 90, Proviso 90.21 (Act No. 73), R. p. 796 (proviso adopted by Legislature for the year of this audit that emphasizes this rule and states that "the Department's interpretation of South Carolina's revenue statutes must be based solely on the plain meaning of the statute's text and the legislative intent giving rise to the enactment of the statute. Terms in tax statutes may not be given broader meaning beyond the meaning of the statute.").

B. The ALC Erred in Failing to Construe the Tax Statutes at Issue in Favor of the Taxpayers and Against SCDOR and Imposition of the Tax.

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