RECEIVED

JAN 27 2017

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court Of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Honorable H. W. Funderburk, Jr., Administrative Law Judge

Case No. 13-ALJ-17-0601-CC

Appellate Case No. 2016-001210

Rent-A-Center East, Inc. and Rent Way, Inc., Appellants,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue, Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Lauren Acquaviva (Bar No. 100528)
Counsel for Litigation
Sean G. Ryan (Bar No. 76585)
Managing Counsel for Litigation
Milton G. Kimpson (Bar No. 7917)
General Counsel for Litigation
P.O. Box 12265
Columbia, SC 29211-9979
(803) 898-5110
Lauren.Acquaviva@dor.sc.gov
CourtOrders@dor.sc.gov

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

ARGUMENTS

In an appeal from the decision of an administrative agency, the Administrative Procedures Act provides the appropriate standard of review. Olson v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, 379 S.C. 57, 63, 663 S.E.2d 497, 500-501 (Ct. App. 2008); Turner v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, 377 S.C. 540, 544, 661 S.E.2d 118, 120 (Ct. App. 2008); Clark v. Aiken County Gov't, 366 S.C. 102, 107, 620 S.E.2d 99, 101 (Ct. App. 2005). S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B) (Supp. 2014) provides the applicable standard:

The review of the administrative law judge's order must be confined to the record. The court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the administrative law judge as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. The court of appeals may affirm the decision or remand the case for further proceedings; or, it may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the finding, conclusion, or decision is:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and

substantial evidence on the whole record; or
(f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of
discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

This Court may not reverse the ALC's decision unless it is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record. The South Carolina Supreme Court explained that in making this determination, "this Court need only find, looking at the entire record on appeal, evidence from which reasonable minds could reach the same conclusion that the ALC reached." Barton v. S.C. Dep't of Prob. Parole & Pardon Servs., 404 S.C. 395, 401, 745 S.E.2d 110, 113 (2013) (citing Hill v. S.C. Dep't of Health and Envtl. Control, 389 S.C. 1, 9–10, 698 S.E.2d 612, 617 (2010)). "The mere possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent a finding from being supported by substantial evidence." Original Blue Ribbon Taxi Corp. v. S.C. Dept. of Motor Vehicles, 380 S.C. 600, 605, 670 S.E.2d 674, 677 (2008) (internal citations omitted). Therefore, this Court should affirm the ALC's decision because, as will be discussed throughout this brief, it is supported by substantial evidence in the record. See Original Blue Ribbon Taxi Corp., 380 S.C. at 604, 670 S.E.2d at 676 (internal citations omitted).

Moreover, this Court held that whether the facts of a case are correctly applied to a statute or whether activities meet a statutorily defined term is a question of fact. See Boggero v. S.C. Dept. of Revenue, 414 S.C. 277, 280, 777 S.E.2d 842, 843 (Ct. App. 2015). Resolving many of the issues in this case involve determining whether the ALC correctly applied the facts to the statutes at issue. As will be discussed in more detail below, this Court must determine whether the ALC correctly determined, factually, whether the Taxpayers are in the business of selling tangible personal property and whether the Waiver fee constitutes value proceeding or

accruing from the Taxpayers' rental of tangible personal property. Because the ALC's decision is supported by substantial evidence in the record, this Court should affirm the decision.

Additionally, this Court should not reverse the ALC's decision unless there is an error of law. "Questions of statutory interpretation are questions of law, which [this Court is] free to decide without any deference to the court below." Centex Int'l, Inc. v. S. C. Dep't of Revenue, 406 S.C. 132, 139, 750 S.E.2d 65, 69 (2013), *reh'g denied* (Sept. 20, 2013). The Department submits that no questions of statutory interpretation exist. The Department maintains that the language of all of the statutes at issue in this case is plain and unambiguous. "If a statute's language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, there is no occasion for employing rules of statutory interpretation and the Court has no right to look for or impose another meaning." Ward v. West Oil Co., Inc., 387 S.C. 268, 278, 522 S.E.2d 516, 522 (2010). Accordingly, because the language of the statutes at issue is plain and unambiguous, no need for employing the rules of statutory interpretation exists.

The Taxpayers, on the other hand, appear to assert that the language of the statutes at issue is ambiguous. When construing a statute, the cardinal rule is to ascertain the intent of the Legislature. Georgia-Carolina Bail Bonds, Inc. v. County of Aiken, 354 S.C. 18, 22, 579 S.E.2d 334, 336 (Ct. App. 2003). "All rules of statutory construction are subservient to the one that legislative intent must prevail if it can be reasonably discovered in the language used, and that language must be construed in the light of the intended purpose of the statute." Georgia-Carolina Bail Bonds, Inc., 354 S.C. at 23, 579 S.E.2d at 336. The words of the statute "must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resort[ing] to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand [the statute's] operation." Hitachi Data Sys. Corp. v. Leatherman, 309 S.C. 174, 178, 420 S.E.2d 843, 846 (1992) (internal citations omitted). Finally, "[t]he construction of a statute by

the agency charged with its administration will be accorded the most respectful consideration and will not be overruled absent compelling reasons.” Brown v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control, 348 S.C. 507, 515, 560 S.E.2d 410, 414 (2002) (quoting Dunton v. S.C. Bd. of Examin'rs in Optometry, 291 S.C. 221, 223, 353 S.E.2d 132, 133 (1987)); see also Nucor Steel v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 310 S.C. 539, 543, 426 S.E.2d 319, 321 (1992) (recognizing that where an agency is charged with the execution of a statute, the agency's interpretation should not be overruled without cogent reason). Accordingly, because the language of the taxing statutes at issue is plain and unambiguous and because the Department has been consistently applying the taxing statutes the way it applied them to the Taxpayers, this Court should affirm the ALC's decision.

I. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT PROPERLY APPLIED THE PLAIN MEANING RULE WHEN READING THE TEXT OF THE “IMPOSITION” AND “MEASURE OF TAX” STATUTES.

A. The ALC Properly Applied The Plain Meaning Rule When Reading The Text Of The Taxing Statutes.

“The language of a tax statute must be given its plain ordinary meaning in the absence of an ambiguity therein.” Beach v. Livingston, 248 S.C. 135, 139, 149 S.E.2d 328, 330 (1966). In other words, when a statute is unambiguous, a court must rely on the plain meaning of the words in the statute when reading said statute. This rule of statutory construction is known as the “plain meaning rule.” The ALC properly applied this rule when reading the text of S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-910(A) (2014) (the imposition statute) and S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-90 (2014) (the measure of tax statute). Pursuant to the imposition statute, “[a] sales tax, equal to five⁵ percent

⁵S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-1110 (2014) imposes an additional one percent sales and use tax beginning on June 1, 2007.

of the gross proceeds of sales, **is imposed upon every person**⁶ engaged or continuing within this State in the business of selling tangible personal property⁷ at retail.” Section 12-36-910(A) (emphasis added). A plain reading of the imposition statute establishes that the tax is imposed on a person in the business of selling tangible personal property at retail. It is undisputed that the Taxpayers are in the business of renting and selling tangible personal property at retail, so the Taxpayers are subject to sales tax under § 12-36-910(A).

Next, the measure of tax statute defines “gross proceeds of sales” as follows:

[T]he value proceeding or accruing from the sale, lease, or rental of tangible personal property.

(1) The term includes:

* * *

(b) the proceeds from the sale of tangible personal property without any deduction for:

* * *

(ii) the cost of materials, labor, or service

Section 12-36-90. A plain reading of the measure of tax statute demonstrates that gross proceeds of sales include (1) the proceeds from the sale of tangible personal property and (2) the value proceeding or accruing from such sale. The Taxpayers dispute whether the Waiver fees constituted value proceeding or accruing from the rental of tangible personal property, but as will be discussed later in this brief, the ALC properly concluded that the Waiver fees did constitute value proceeding or accruing from the rental of tangible personal property.

⁶For sales and use tax purposes, the term person “includes any individual, firm, partnership, limited liability company, association, corporation, receiver, trustee, any group or combination acting as a unit, the State, any state agency, any instrumentality, authority, political subdivision, or municipality.” S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-30 (2014).

⁷Tangible personal property means “personal property which may be seen, weighed, measured, felt, touched, or which is in any other manner perceptible to the senses. It also means services and intangibles . . . the sale or use of which is subject to tax under this chapter” S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-60 (2014).

While the Taxpayers claim the ALC failed to apply the plain meaning rule when reading the taxing statutes, it is actually the Taxpayers who fail to read the plain language of the statutes. First, the Taxpayers want the imposition statute to say that a sales tax is imposed on the sale of tangible personal property. Specifically, the Taxpayers complain that the ALC “fail[ed] to identify an imposition statute that imposes a tax on Waivers” (Initial Brief of Appellant 10.) Despite the imposition statute clearly imposing a sales tax on *persons*, the Taxpayers want this Court to replace the word “person” with the phrase “tangible personal property” in the imposition statute. In other words, the Taxpayers want the imposition statute to say a sales tax, equal to six percent of the gross proceeds of sales, is imposed upon every retail sale of tangible personal property. The statute does not read this way, and the plain meaning of the statute does not support the Taxpayers’ position.

Second, the Taxpayers want gross proceeds of sales to include only the amount paid for the tangible personal property. However, the measure of tax provided in § 12-36-90 is much broader than simply the amount paid for an item of tangible personal property. Section 12-36-90 explicitly includes the “value proceeding or accruing” from the sale or rental of tangible personal property. This is intentionally broad language designed to encompass the total value of a transaction and not simply the amount paid for tangible personal property. Accordingly, it is the Taxpayers, not the ALC, who failed to properly apply the plain meaning rule when reading the taxing statutes at issue.

B. The Taxpayers Abandoned Their Statutory Construction Issue.

The Taxpayers also argue that the taxing statutes at issue are ambiguous. At the outset, this Court should deem the Taxpayers’ statutory construction issue abandoned as the Taxpayers only made conclusory, unsupported statements in their attempt to argue that the ALC erred in

failing to properly apply the rules of statutory construction. In Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fidelity and Guaranty Co., 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct. App. 2001), this Court held that the appellant abandoned one of its issues on appeal because its argument was “conclusory and cited no authority.” The Court went on to explain that the fact the Appellant discussed the issue more thoroughly in its reply brief did not preserve the issue either, implying that an issue must be thoroughly argued in the initial brief. Id. at 81, 557 S.E.2d at 692. Similarly, in Mulherin-Howell v. Cobb, 362 S.C. 588, 600, 608 S.E.2d 587, 593 (Ct. App. 2005), this Court held the appellant abandoned one of its issues on appeal because it failed to cite any authority to support its position and all of its arguments were merely conclusory statements. Thus, if an appellant merely makes conclusory, unsupported statements in an attempt to argue an issue on appeal, that issue is deemed abandoned and should not be considered by this Court.

Here, the Taxpayers state that the ALC failed to properly construe the taxing statutes at issue in their favor. (Initial Brief of Appellants 11.) The Taxpayers appear to argue that all taxing statutes are to be construed in favor of the taxpayer. Specifically, the Taxpayers assert that “[t]he law is clear that where there is a question of imposition of tax (or coverage) and not one of exemption, the taxing statutes should be construed in favor of the taxpayer and against the imposition of tax” (Initial Brief of Appellants 11.) However, the Taxpayers cite no authority that supports their assertion. Moreover, the authority the Taxpayers did cite demonstrates that a court must first determine whether a taxing statute is ambiguous. (Initial Brief of Appellants 11.) If the court determines the taxing statute is ambiguous, *then* it should resolve that ambiguity in favor of the taxpayer. See e.g. United States v. Merriam, 263 U.S. 179, 188 (1923). Thus, while the Taxpayers cited some authority generally, they cited no authority that supports their position. Accordingly, since the Taxpayers failed to cite any authority to

support their position that all taxing statutes should be construed in favor of the taxpayer, this Court should deem this issue abandoned.

Next, the Taxpayers correctly explain that that the Department asserted, and the ALC agreed, that the taxing statutes at issue are not ambiguous. (Initial Brief of Appellants 12.) The Taxpayers even state that they “agree that the taxing statutes at issue are unambiguous.” (Initial Brief of Appellants 12.) However, the Taxpayers then contradict themselves and argue, without citing any legal authority, that the fact the Department and the ALC read the taxing statutes differently than the Taxpayers renders the taxing statutes ambiguous. (Initial Brief of Appellants 12.) In other words, the Taxpayers assert that the fact that the ALC did not rule in their favor means the statutes are ambiguous and should be construed in their favor. (Initial Brief of Appellants 12.) Again, the Taxpayers cite no legal authority for their argument that merely different readings of a statute render the statute ambiguous and instead make conclusory statements. Therefore, the Taxpayers abandoned their statutory construction issue.

C. The ALC Properly Concluded That The Taxing Statutes At Issue Are Unambiguous.

Assuming this Court finds the Taxpayers did not abandon their statutory construction issue, it still must affirm the ALC’s ruling that the taxing statutes at issue are not ambiguous for the reasons set forth below. (R. p. 13; Order Den. Pet’rs’ Mot. Recons. 2.) When determining whether a statute is ambiguous, courts look at whether the language in the statute can have more than one *reasonable* interpretation. See Kennedy v. S.C. Retirement System, 345 S.C. 339, 348, 549 S.E.2d 243, 247 (2001). Thus, if the language of a statute only has one reasonable interpretation, then the statute is unambiguous and the court need not apply any rules of statutory construction.

Two statutes, primarily, are at issue in this case – § 12-36-910 (the imposition statute) and § 12-36-90 (the measure of tax statute). Neither statute is capable of having more than one *reasonable* interpretation. The imposition statute imposes a sales tax on persons engaged in the business of selling tangible personal property at retail. See § 12-36-910(A). The only reasonable interpretation of § 12-36-910(A) is that all persons engaged in the sale of tangible personal property at retail are liable for sales tax. While the Taxpayers argue that the statute should be read to mean sales tax is imposed on the sale of tangible personal property, such is not how the statute is written.⁸ An interpretation of a statute that requires eliminating words within the statute is not a reasonable interpretation. Because the Taxpayers’ interpretation requires the deletion of the words “persons engaged in the business of,” such is not a reasonable interpretation.

Notably, this Court in Meyers Arnold did not find the imposition statute ambiguous.

Specifically, this Court stated:

The sales tax is imposed under Section 12-35-510⁹ as a tax levied on persons engaged in selling tangible personal property at retail with the tax being a percentage of the gross proceeds of sales of the business. It is undisputed that Meyers Arnold is in the business of making retail sales of tangible personal property when it sells to

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